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8 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

9 FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
10
11 | EVERETT JEWETT, et al., No. 2:13-cv-0882 MCE AC P
12 Plaintiffs,
13 V. ORDER AND AMENDED FINDINGS AND
14 | CALIFORNIA FORENSIC MEDICAL RECOMMENDATIONS
15 GROUP, INC. et al.,
16 Defendants.
17 This action proceeds on the basis of tHfthFAmended Complaint filed June 2, 2016.
18 | ECF No. 65. On March 8, 2017, the court heeldearing on plaintiffs’ motion for class
19 | certification (ECF No. 83). Joseph Gooch, gteRRagland, and Maronel Barajas appeared far
20 | plaintiffs. Gary Brickwood ppeared for defendants Shastaitty Sheriff's Department, Tom
21 | Bosenko, and Shasta County. There was no agpeaion behalf of defendants California
22 | Forensic Medical Group, Inc (CFMG). All deigants had previously filed notices of non-
23 | opposition to the proposed class certification. r@new of the motion, the documents filed in
24 | support, upon hearing the argument of counsel,god cause appearing therefor, the court finds
25 | as follows:
26 l. Fifth Amended Complaint
27 A. Parties
28 Individual named plaintiffs Everett Jewdtarold Everett, and Michael Donald Ackley
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are persons with mobility disaliies who are or were housed witt8hasta County Jail (“SCJ” ¢
“Jail”) facilities.! ECF No. 65 at 4. Each named plaintiff suffers from a different disability t
substantially limits their ability to walk and regesruse of an assistive device to walk, such a
cane or crutches. Id. at 5-6adh plaintiff has had a number of disability-related problems at
Jail, including, but not limited to, denial atcommodations, physical access, and access to
programs at the Jail._Id.

Plaintiff Legal Services for Prisoners with i@inen (LSPC), an organizational plaintiff, i
a non-profit that advocates for theitrights of incarcerated persoasad their families._Id. at 6.
LSPC currently spends substantial time arstueces on advocacy work concerning policies 3
procedures affecting individualgth disabilities who are incarcaed in California’s prisons an
jails, including SCJ._1d. at 6-7.

Defendant Shasta County is responsible foiSid facilities, as well as oversight of the
Sheriff's Department; defendant Shasta County Sheriff's Department is responsible for op
the Jail; defendant Tom Bosenko is the Sherifflodsta County, named in his official capacity
only; defendant CFMG is a for-profit organizatithrat provides healthcaservices to prisoners
at the Jail pursuant to a caoatt with Shasta County; andfdedants Does 1-25 are current or
former Jail or CFMG staff who participated iretecisions to deny origahplaintiff Jewett his
assistive devices and to threaten him wheodmaplained of defendant&ilure to reasonably
accommodate his mobility impairments. Id. at 7-8.

B. Allegations of the Fifth Amended Complaint

Plaintiffs allege that defelants have discriminated agsii and failed to accommodate
mobility disabled prisoners at SCJ in a number of ways. They assert that throughout SCJ
significant problems exist for people with diddl@s with respect telassification, housing,

access to programs and services, and physical aceesssdoald. at 10. Rintiffs assert that
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defendants systemically fail to effectively evalutie needs of people with disabilities within the

Jail, and fail to meet those needs through appatgpaccommodations ampthysical access. Id.

! Harold Robert Marquette is alsonamed plaintiff but is not pasf this class certification. Se
ECF No. 83.
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These systemic issues include, but are not lahtibe inappropriate placement and/or security
classification of people with mobility disabilitiefgilure to provide appropriate mobility aids;
failure to accommodate the needs of people mithility disabilities; failure to modify policies
and procedures for people with mobility disabibti¢ailure to remove multiple and pervasive
architectural barriers throughout tfadls; failure to allow people ith mobility disabilities access
to vocational, educational, religious, and other programs aniteg failure to have an
emergency and/or evacuation policy for people withbility disabilities; and failure to provide
an effective complaint procedure ftisability related complaints. Id.

Plaintiffs allege that thesaolations result from a maber of pervasive problems,
including, but not limited to the following:

e There is no comprehensive set of policiepmmrcedures for determining appropriate
accommodations, modifications or services for prisoners with disabilities;

e People who are identified as having mobility Bisdes and who require assistive devig
are frequently housed in segregfafacilities thaprovide severely restricted access to {
programs and services available in the Jail; and

e Architectural barriers are peasive throughout the Jail. &be include failure to make
housing and programming accessible to peoplle mbbility disabilities, as well as a
failure to provide emergency evacuatioans for people with mobility disabilities.

Id. at 11.
With respect to the physical baars at the Jail, plaintiffs agséhat none of the cells are
ADA complaint because they are ramicessible to mobility disabledigoners._ld. The Jail has

no cells designated for use by prisoners with mohilisabilities, and none ahe cells at the Jai

including those in the Medical Unit, have grab karallow prisoners with mobility disabilities {o

independently and safely use the toilet. Id.

In addition, mobility impaired psoners are routinely segregated solely because of th
assistive devices and housed in the Medical Wrigre they are kept on 23-hour lockdown (in
conditions comparable to solitary confinement) and denied access to programs and religio

services._ld. at 2-4, 11, 15-17. The MedicaitWhere many mobility disabled prisoners are
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housed is also deficient in that the cells doh®te access features, sashclearance and knee
space for wheelchairs or hand bars for indepenasa of in-cell toileg. 1d. at 3, 11. The
Medical Unit has only one shower with a gralb &ad shower seat, whigtaintiffs allege was
installed within the last year, wedfter this lawsuit was filed.dl at 11. Even in the medical un
prisoners are routinely denied useheir assistive devices and,asesult, are often confined tg
their beds, causing their heatthdeteriorate._Id. at 15-16.

When mobility disabled prisoners are givtae option to be housed in general populati
they do so at their own peril: sistive devices are npermitted in geneflgopulation, and there
are a number of physical and architectural begiire general populatiomousing. _Id. at 14, 16-
17. The showers in general population do not haak ars or shower ssaaind there is a six-
to eight-inch lip tlat must be stepped over to enter the grovd. at 11. The thresholds of oth

rooms have a one-inch bevel that must be stepped 1d. at 3. The stairs between floors do

have adequate handrail extensions. Id. Tiseme wheelchair seating in the day rooms, and no

place to sit in the yard

d. at 3, 16. Also, nibbimpaired prisoners igeneral population are

It,

pn,

11°)
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not

often assigned to upper bunks, despite their impaitsnand have been injured after falling fram

the bunks._ld. at 13, 15.

Mobility impaired prisoners in general poptidgen may request to use the Medical Unit
shower, but these requests arerflenied and prisoners areded to use the general populatic
showers, where they are at risk of injury. 1d1&{13. Plaintiff Jewett, for example, has fallen
the shower twice and will require knee replacemergesy as a result of the fall. _Id. at 12-13.

Plaintiffs allege that they have suffered a number of injuries, often as a result of fall
the shower, off a bunk, down the staws being confined to their bedss a result of the lack of
accommodations at SCJ. Id. at 12-13, 15. Rftsrcontend that defendants are aware of the
problems but have refused to remedy the situatidnat Plaintiffs further allege that they have
been discriminated against based on their disab and have been died the access to the
programs and services enjoyed by itmein-disabled peers. Id. at 3.

C. Class Action Allegations

Plaintiffs seek to bring this action individually and on behalf of “all present and futur
4
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prisoners or detainees with mility disabilities who areor will be held withn the Shasta County
Jail.” 1d. at 20. They allegedhdefendants have failed to complith Titles Il and Il of the
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), the Rehéitation Act, and analogoustate statutes. Id.
Plaintiffs allege that defendts have not adopted and do eaforce appropriate policies and
procedures to ensure nondiscrimination aggestons with disabilities, and equal access to
programs, services, and activities for paswith disabilitis. 1d. at 20-21.

Plaintiffs allege that defendanhave failed and continue fail to provide SCSD officers
and employees with appropridtaining regarding their legal bgations under relevant federal
and state statutes. Id.2lt. They similarly allege that deferds have failed and continue to fé
to provide CFMG employees with appropri&t@ning and supervisioregarding their legal
obligations under relevant fedesald state statutes. Id. Pl#iis assert that defendants’
violations of the ADA, the Rehdliation Act, and related federahd state statutes have injure

all members of the proposed classl violated their rights. Id.

.|
Plaintiffs assert that they have met themerosity, commonality, typicality, and adequg
of representation requiremermsFederal Rule of Civil Ricedure 23(a). _Id. at 21-22.

D. Claims For Relief

The Fifth Amended Complaint tseforth eight overlapping caes of action. The First,
Second, Fourth, and Six Causes of Actionnalthat defendants Shasta County Sheriff's
Department, Tom Bosenko, Sha€taunty, and CFMG violated 304 of the Rehabilitation Act
of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.), Title Il ot tADA (42 U.S.C. § 1201, skq.), and California
Government Code 8§ 11135, , et seq. and § 4di5§kq. ECF No. 65 at 23-28, 30-31, 32-33.

The Third and Fifth Causes of Action claim tidafendant CFMG violated Title 111 of thg
ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12181, et. seq., and the Unruhl&ights Act, Cal. Civ. Code § 51, et seq.
ECF No. 65 at 28-30, 31-32.

The Seventh Cause of Action is brought dmyplaintiff Jewett agaist all defendants fo

violations of the Bane Act, Cal. Civ. Code § 52.In the Eighth Cause of Action, plaintiff Jew

2 California Civil Code § 52.1, also known as Bane Act, serves as a state law remedy for

constitutional or statutory violations accomplidlierough intimidation, coercion, or threats. ¢
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also seeks monetary damages against defiéh@hasta County Shi€s Department, Tom
Bosenko, Shasta County, and CFMG for violatiohthe ADA, the Rehabilitation Act, and
analogous state statuteSCF No. 65 at 33-35.
E. Relief Sought

Plaintiffs seek declaratory relief andungtive relief on behalf of all plaintiffs, and
monetary damages for plaintiffwett. 1d. at 35-36. Specifically, plaintiffs seek a declaration
that defendants have violateahd continue to violate, th&DA, the Rehabilitation Act, and
analogous California state statues, and they seekjoin defendants from future violations of
those laws._ld. Plaintiffs also seek attorfegs and costs, and requtsidt the court retain
jurisdiction of the case until defendants have fatynplied with any court orders. Id. at 36.

[l. Plaintiff's Motion for Class Certification

Plaintiff seeks an order certifyg this case as a class actionler Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2).

The proposed class consists of “[a]ll current Andre detainees and prisoners at Shasta Cou
Jail with mobility disabilities who, becausétheir disabilities, need appropriate
accommodations, modifications, services, and amigsical access in accordance with feder
and state disability laws.” HCNo. 83 at 7, 10. For purposesto motion, plaintiffs define
“mobility disability” as “any impament or medical condition #t limits a person’s ability to
walk, ambulate, maneuver around objects and/orderasand/or descend stepsslopes.”_Id. af
7, 10 n.2. Plaintiffs further explain that a “pamswvith a mobility disability may or may not use
wheelchair, scooter, crutches,liwexr, cane, brace, orthopedicvilee, or similar equipment or
device to assist his or hervigation.” 1d. at 10 n.2.

As previously noted, defendants have fifedices of non-opposition to plaintiffs’ motio
for class certification. ECF Nos. 86, 87. Theiparagree, and confirrdat the hearing, that

there is no need for discovery going to the pdprof class certificadn. Accordingly, the

Civ. Code § 52.1. Although analogous to § 198i3, not tantamount to a § 1983 violation,
requiring more than evidence of a violation ghtis. Davis v. City of San Jose, 69 F. Supp. 3
1001, 1007 (N.D. Cal. 2014); see also AustivBEscondido Union Sch. Dist., 149 Cal. App.
860, 883 (2007) (“The essence of a Bane Adtrtia that the defendant, by the specified
improper means (i.e., “threats, intihaition or coercion”), tried to alid prevent the plaintiff fron
doing something he or she hae tiight to do under the law.”).
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motion is appropriate for gutication at this time.

A. Standards for Class Certification

A party seeking to certify a class must dematstthat it has met all four requirements|of

Rule 23(a) and at least one of the requiremehRule 23(b)._Zinser v. Accufix Research Inst.

Inc., 253 F.3d 1180, 1186 (9th Cir. 2001). RzeBga) allows a clss to be certified

only if (1) the class is so numerotlsat joinder of all members is
impracticable, (2) there are questiafdaw or fact common to the
class, (3) the claims or defenses of the representative parties are
typical of the claims or defeas of the class, and (4) the
representative parties will fairly dradequately protect the interests

of the class.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a). In other words, thesslaust satisfy the requirements of numerosity,
commonality, typicality, and adequacy.

Rule 23(b) provides for three types of classoas. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b). Here, plaintiff
seeks to certify the class under RREb)(2), which allows for a cta to be certified if “the party
opposing the class has acted or refused to act on grounds generatigtd@pd the class, therely
making appropriate final injunctvrelief or corresponding declaratoelief with respect to the
class as a whole.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2).

The court must conduct a “rigorous analysisthe moving party’s claims to examine

whether the requirements areisiged. Gen. Tel. Co. of /. v. Falcon, 457 U.S. 147, 161

(1982). Generally, the court shouldt consider whether the padggeking class certification has

stated a cause of action or is likely to préwaithe merits._Eisen v. Carlisle & Jacquelin, 417

U.S. 156, 178 (1974). Nevertheless, the court noagider such evidence, when applicable, gven

if the evidence may also relatethe underlying merits of the @asHanon v. Dataproducts Corp.,

976 F.2d 497, 509 (9th Cir. 1992). If the cowncludes that the moving party has met its
burden of proof, the court has broad discretmaoertify the class. Zinser, 253 F.3d at 1186.

B. Requirements Under Rule 23(a)

1. Numerosity

Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 23(a)(1) provides that numigyasxists if “the class is so numerous

that joinder of all members is impracticabléefendants stipulate thplaintiffs have met the
7
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numerosity requirement. EQ¥o. 83-3 at 3-4; ECF No. 8 2; ECF No. 87 at 2.

Plaintiff's expert Julian Manmez reports that as many thsty-eight prisoners with
mobility disabilities are in ta Jail on any given day. ECF No. 83-7 at 159, 170. Furthermor
Martinez estimates that between 516 to 1,200 nigllisabled detainees are processed by th

Jail in any given year. Id. In general, codisl the numerosity requirement satisfied when g

class includes at least forty memberge annis v. Recchia, 380 Fed. Appx. 646, 651 (9th ¢

2010) (citing_Gen. Tel. Co. of the N.W. v. EEOC, 446 U.S. 318, 330 (1980)). Thus, the es

size of the proposed class here raises a pragungf impracticability based on numbers alone.

This is especially true where, as here, the class includes future, unknowable class membsg

Hernandez v. Cnty. of Montere$05 F.R.D. 132, 153 (N.D. Cal. 2015).

Because the class is well over forty memn#) and defendants have stipulated to
numerosity, the undersigned finds that plidis meet the numerosity requirement.
2. Commonality
Defendants do not dispute thaetl are questions of law adt common to the class an

that the commonality requirement is thussmeCF No. 86 at 2; ECF No. 87 at 2.

Commonality exists when “there are questiohlw or fact common to the class.” Fed.

R. Civ. P. 23(a)(2). Rule 23(a)(2) does not regjtinat every or all questis of fact or law be

common or identical. Hanlon v. Chrysler §gor150 F.3d 1011, 1019 (9th Cir. 1998). In a civi

rights suit, the commonality requirement is deswhere the suit challenges a “system-wide

practice or policy that affectd| of the putative class memisér Armstrong v. Davis, 275 F.3d

849, 868 (9th Cir. 2001), cert. denied, 537 I 8B&2 (2002), abrogated on other grounds by

Johnson v. California, 543 U.S. 499, 504-05 (2088&¢ also Wal-Mart Stores v. Dukes, 131 S,

Ct. 2541, 2553 (2011) (reaffirming that where aeaystvide policy or praate is the cause of

class members’ injuries, plaintiffs satishetbommonality requirement); Stockwell v. City &

Cnty. of San Francisco, 749 F.3d 1107, 1111-13@#th2014). Thus, commonality may exist

where there is a common legal issue withe@factual predicateddanlon, 150 F.3d at 1019-2

Here, plaintiffs allege that all class mbers have been discriminated against by

defendants’ failure to comply with the ADA, tReehabilitation Act, and alogous state statutes
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Plaintiffs allege that defendts have not adopted and do eaforce appropriate policies and
procedures to ensure nondiscrimination against prisoners with mobility disabilities and eqt
access to programs, services, and/diets for persons with mobilitgisabilities. These issues
require an examination of defendants’ programs, {@slj@ractices and facilities as a whole. (
course, the experiences of individual plaintifiil ikely be relevant to prove that defendants’
policies, procedures, and practicesulted in discrimination againsobility disabled prisoners
and lack of access to programgyvsees, and activities for prisonength mobility disabilities.
However, the alleged injuries and legaddhies are the same across the class.

In Armstrong, the Ninth Circuit affirmed certfation of a class of disabled life prisoner
who challenged the accommodations provided bybibard of prison terms at and in relation tq
parole hearings. The court rejected the argumanthie different types afisability experiencec

by the class members — hearing impairmenssial impairments, mobility impairments,

lal

A4

developmental disabilities and learning disaiedi — defeated commonality. The court reasoned

that differences among the individual litigantd dot preclude a finding of commonality becad
all plaintiffs challenged a single system-wideipplor practice affeting all putative class
members._Armstrong, 275 F.3d at 868.

In Parsons v. Ryan, 754 F.3d 657 (9th Cir. 2014), the Ninth Circuit affirmed class

certification, holding that[tlhe putative class and subclassmizers . . . all set forth numerous
common contentions whose truthfalsity can be determined in os&roke: whether the specifie
[system-]wide policies and practices to whichytlare all subjected . . . expose them to a
substantial risk of harm.Id. at 678 (citing Wal-Mart, 131 S. Ct. at 2551). Because of the ng
of the plaintiffs’ system-wide challenge, “eithexaoh of the policies and practices is unlawful &
to every inmate or it is not.”_Id. Any determirmat of the merits wouldrfot require [the court]
to determine the effect of those policies aratpces upon any individualass member (or clas
members) or to undertake any otherdckof individualized determination.d. at 679.

The same analysis set forth_in Armstromgl #arsons applies herPlaintiffs are

challenging systemic discriminatitrased on failed policies, prams and procedures that resu

in an overall failure to ensuredfaccessibility of the Jail for pasers with mobility disabilities.
9
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Either plaintiffs are housed in a facility trmamports with the ADA, the Rehabilitation Act, angd

analogous state statutes, or they arée nGtaims of this kind —rivolving detailed factual and

legal allegations of specified sggtic deficiencies in prison practis and policies that affect all

putative class members — have long been brought in the formsefardtions lawsuits. See, e.g.

Armstrong, 275 F.3d at 868 (differences in particalass members’ disdlties did not justify
requiring separate actions, sindiedssabled prisoners and pagels suffered similar harm from
board’s system-wide failure sccommodate their disdities); Hernandez, 305 F.R.D. at 157
(commonality in case challenging, inter aBgstem-wide, insufficient accommodations for

persons with disabilities); ParsonsRyan, 289 F.R.D. 513, 516-23 (D. Ariz. 2013)

(commonality in case challenging medical andhtakhealthcare provided to 33,000 inmates in

Arizona); Henderson v. Thomas, 289 F.R.D65811 (M.D. Ala. 2012) (commonality for ADA

claims challenging Alabama prison policy ofssgating HIV positive inmates from general

prison population); see also Clark v. Califiar, No. C96-1486 FMS, 1998 WL 242688, at *6,

1998 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6770, at *17-19 (N.D. Cal. WM&1, 1998) (refusing to decertify a class
developmentally-disabled inmates seeking cerdaicessibility improvements in a prison syste
pursuant, in part, to the ADA).

Plaintiffs have met or exceeded Wal-Margsgjuirement of proof that there are fact . . .
common questions of law or fattl31 S. Ct. at 2551. The materials they submitted include
are not limited to: two plaintiff-retained expegports; the detailed allegations in the Fifth
Amended Complaint; the Department o$tice’s Guidance on the 2010 ADA Standards for
Accessible Design; Americans wibisabilities ActBarrier Removal Plan for County Jail; ADA

Self-Evaluation Report and Barriers RemovarPio Update County’s ADA Transition Plan;

3 A public entity must take steps, including g existing or constructing new facilities, to
accommodate inmates with disabilities unlessaso would fundamentally alter a program or
create an undue financial or administrategden. See 28 C.F.R. 88 35.150, 35.152. Whet
facility was constructed prior tb992 only determines whether the structure itself must comg
fully with the ADA’s architectural guidelines. 828 C.F.R. § 35.151(a) & (b). That the jail w
constructed before 1992 does not vitiate a defetisl obligation to acaomodate inmates with

of
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but
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disabilities or alter the reasdslaness of an accommodation in any way. See Hernandez v. Cnty.

of Monterey, 305 F.R.D. 132, 158 n.162 (N.D. Cal. 2015).
10
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various internal documents; defendantspaesses to plaintiffstequests for admission,

interrogatories, and reque$ts production of documentand declarations by the named

plaintiffs. These documents comgte more than sufficient evidence at this stage in the litigation

of the existence of defendants’ failure to comply with the ADA, the Rehabilitation Act, and
analogous state statutes, which@dlély exposes all members oéthutative class to inadequat
accommodations, inappropriate segregation from the general population, placement in 23
lock down, exclusion from Jail programs, and multiple and pervasive physical access barr
throughout the facilities, includindpe lack of accessible showerglaoilets. These policies ang
practices are defined wigufficient precision and sgificity; they involveparticular and readily
identifiable conduct and omissions on the péidefendants—namely, failure to provide
accommodations, modifications, services, and physical access to prisoners with mobility
disabilities in violation of the ADA, the Rehdtation Act, and analogaustate statutes. The
evidence submitted by plaintiffs adequately denratss the existence of systemic failure to
comply with federal and state disability access laws.

Accordingly, the undersigned finds thhe commonality requirement is met.

3. Typicality

Defendants do not dispute thahétclaims or defenses ofethepresentativparties are
typical of the claims odefenses of the clas$.ECF No. 86 at 2; ECF No. 87 at 2.

Typicality requires that “the clais or defenses of the repretsgive parties are typical of
the claims or defenses of the class.” Fed. R. Bi23(a)(3). As sur; it substantially overlaps
with the test for commonalityFor typicality to be met, namedaintiffs’ claims need not be
identical to those of the pubeg class members. Hanlon, 15@dat 1020. Instead, plaintiffs’

claims need only be “reasonably coextensive” whih claims of the putative class. 1d. The

e
hour

ers

=

inquiry focuses on the claims themselves, not on the factual predicates from which the clayms

arise. _Hanon, 976 F.2d at 508. “The test ofdgiity ‘is whether other members have the san

* Defendants state, however, that because jffalatvett is the only plaiiff alleging Bane Act
violations and the only plaintifeeking monetary damages, tlagg not waiving the right to
challenge plaintiff Jewett’s position as a classe@epntative should those unique claims interf
with his adequacy as a class represergatECF No. 86 at 2; ECF No. 87 at 2.

11
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or similar injury, whether the action is bdsen conduct which is namique to the named
plaintiffs, and whether other class members Hman injured by the same course of conduct.
Id.

Here, plaintiffs Jewett, Everett, and Acklase all persons with ability disabilities that
were or are detained in SCJ. Similar to memloéthe proposed class, the named represents
have disabilities that require them to use éissislevices for mobility; have been detained or
incarcerated in SJC; were exposed to the samemane living conditions, discriminatory
policies, and procedures, and defendants’ refus@&nmve physical barnig to ensure prisoners
with disabilities have equal access to programs services; and habeen and are routinely
denied access to the Jail's programs, serviceyjtagiand facilities aa result of defendants’
system-wide policy failures and deficient policipgctices and physical lveers. See ECF Nos
65, 83-4, 83-5, 83-6. They each allege thatrt#dats have failed to make the programs,
services, and activities offered by SCJ accessilpetsons with mobility disabilities and have
failed to adopt appropriate policies and procedures for housing, accommodating, and carif
persons with mobility disabilities. Between the fofithem, they allege injuries similar to the

injuries suffered by the class, including lackadbility aids, failure to accommodate disabilitie

segregation into inappropriate facilities withir thail, systemic architectural barriers within thie

Jail, and denial of access to programs and sesviéll class memberseasubject to the same
alleged discrimination and inhumativing conditions based onf@adants’ failure to comply
with state and federal disability access laws: tieye been and are rowlg denied access to t}
Jail's programs, services, activities, and facilitiddl. named plaintiffs seek a declaration that

defendants have violated, and continue to vldte ADA, the Rehabilitation Act, and analog

California state statues, and they seek to emjefandants from future violations of those laws|.

With respect to organizational plaintiff LSP€meets the requirements set out in Sierf

Club v. Morton, 405 U.S. 727, 732 (1972), that an oizgtion must show a “personal stake in

the outcome of the controversy” to have standingue either in its owoapacity or on behalf of
a class._See I.M.A.G.E. v. Bailar, 78 F.R929, 553 (N.D. Cal. 1978):[A]n organization may
1
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represent its members who are inflibyy conduct alleged in a complafparticularly if its raisor
d’etre is to represent the clasdd. “The Supreme Court has heldht it is sufficient to establish
standing if an organization seeksprotect an interest of itsvn arguably within the zone of

interests to be protected or regulated by thdicgdpe statute or constitutional guarantee.” Id.

(quoting_United States v. SCRA®12 U.S. 669, 686-90 (1973)).

LSPC advocates for the civil righof incarcerated persons and their families. It curre
spends substantial time and resources oncayowork concerning policies and procedures
affecting individuals with disabilities who aiecarcerated in Califoia’s prisons and jails,
including SCJ. LSPC alleges that it has bieeoed to divert itgsesources and had its
organizational purpose frustratedeaasesult of defendds’ violations ofthe ADA and related
federal and state disabilityid. ECF No. 83-7 at 3, 8.

Because all named plaintiffs have alleggdtem-wide policy failures, the undersigned
finds that their alleged injugs are necessarilytical of those of unnamed class members.

4. Adequacy of Representation

Defendants do not dispute that “the represemtgarties will farly and adequately
protect the interests of the cladsECF No. 86 at 2-3; ECF No. 87 at 2.

Adequacy of representation requires that “representative parties will fairly and aded
protect the interests of the class.” Fed. R. Ci23a)(4). In order for plaintiffs to adequately
represent the putative class members, they dembnstrate, first, that they do not possess ar

conflicts of interest with the class members aatond, that both plaintifisnd their counsel wil

® Questions as to the adequacy of representéiir the proposed classatiscussed separately
below.

® That plaintiff Jewett asseré additional Bane Act violatiorlaim and seeks damages does
make his interest any less alighwith, or less typical of, the inmtests of the class. See Kamar
Radio Shack Corp., 254 F.R.D. 387, 396 (C.D. €@08), aff'd sub nom. Kamar v. RadioShag
Corp., 375 Fed. Appx. 734 (9th Cir. 2010). The Banteckam, similar to the class action clair
(Causes of Action One through Six), arise frorfeddants’ failure to accommodate his mobilit
impairments. ECF No. 65 at 8-9, 33-34.

" Defendants state that, because plaintiff deis¢he only class representative alleging Bane
Act violations and the only class representasgeking monetary damages, they are expressl|
reserving the right to challengesiposition as a class representif, in the course of this
litigation, plaintiff Jewett's uniquendividual claims cre&t a conflict of interest with other class
members. ECF No. 86 at 2-3; ECF No. 87 at 2.
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work to “prosecute the actiongorously” with respect to the gre class._Staton v. Boeing Co.

327 F.3d 938, 957 (9th Cir. 2003).

Here, the named plaintiffs’ interests are ndagonistic to those of the class. To the
contrary, as set forth above in the discussigaming commonality antypicality requirements,
the named plaintiffs share the same interestieofaratory and injunctiveslief as the proposed
class members. The named plaintiffs’ mutual ge&b have the coudeclare that defendants
have violated, and continue to violate, &i2A, the Rehabilitation Act, as well as analogous
California state statues and to enjoin defendants from futuratioio$ of those laws. ECF No.
83-4 at 3, 1 14; ECF No. 83-5 at 3, 1 15; ECFE 886 at 3, 1 14; ECF No. 83-7 at 3, 11 9-10.
The named plaintiffs also expresslgclare that they are aware theg,plaintiffs in this lawsuit,
they are “trying to be a representative for atlarcerated people withohility disabilities” and
that their “duty as a class representative inc¢hee is to do what is in the best interest of the
class.” ECF No. 83-4 at 4, 1 15; ECF No. 83-8,&f 16; ECF No. 83-6 at 3,  15; ECF No. 8
at 3, 1 10.

The court notes that the named individualiptiffs would not be inadequate class
representatives because they rbaytransferred to another fatil The fluidity of a prison’s
population is a factor that supp®rclass certification. Stewa669 F.2d at 334. If a named
plaintiff's release or transfer renders him aadaequate representative, the proper remedy is t
permit his substitution by a new class representative. Id.

Finally, the putative class is representedable and experienced attorneys— Keker &
Van Nest LLC, Disability Rights Legal Cent¢DRLC"), and Atabek & Associates, P.C.
Plaintiffs” documents confirm that these attorséave sufficient resoces to prosecute this

action and have extensive experience handlwvigrayhts class action lawsuits, complex civil

8 The court recognizesahclass representatives may sesdlef different from class members
without rendering themselves inadequatee Stewart v. Winter, 669 F.2d 328, 333 (5th Cir.
1982). The fact that plaintiff Jewett is pursuargindividual damagesaim does not necessari
disqualify him or make his interesantagonistic to those of thesda_See id. at 335. With regz
to adequacy as well as typicality, see supra def&ndants state that they expressly reserve t
right to challenge his position aglkass representative if, in the course of this litigation, Jewe
unique individual claims create a conflaftinterest with other class members.
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litigation, and litigation involung the rights of persons withisabilities anctonditions of
detention._See ECF Nos. 8383-9, 83-10, 83-11, 83-12. Iddition, plaintiffs’ counsel
satisfies the requirements of Rule 23(g) as theye done extensive work in identifying and
investigating the claims in thaction. Finally, no conflictexist between counsel, the named
plaintiffs, and the proposed class members tlmatldvcompromise their ability to represent the
class._See ECF No. 83-8 at 4, 1 10; EGF88-9 at 8, 1 14; ECF No. 83-12 at 3, 1 12.

For these reasons, the undersigned findsttieamamed plaintiffs are an adequate clasy
representative.

C. Requirements Under Rule 23(b)(2)

The analysis of Rule 23(b)(®verlaps with the factors iRule 23(a). Rule 23(b)(2)
requires that “the party opposgj the class has acted or refilise act on grounds that apply
generally to the class, so tHatal injunctive relief or corrgponding declaratory relief is
appropriate respecting the classaashole.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2). Here, plaintiffs seek
system-wide improvements in the Jails’ programs facilities that applyo all class members.
Therefore, plaintiff's allegations satisfy thisquirement. The janctive relief sought by
plaintiffs would apply to the class a whole. The claims in thesit would not entitle named or
unnamed class members to any fornmafvidualized injunctive relief.

D. Conclusion

For the reasons explained above, the ungeesi recommends certification of the clasg
pursuant to Rule 23(b)(2).

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED that the idlings and Recommendations issued March
2017 (ECF No. 89) are hereby vacated.

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY RECOMMENDED that:

1. Plaintiffs’ motion for class ceritdation (ECF No. 83) be granted.

2. The following class be certified pursuanRule 23(b)(2) of the Federal Rules of Ciyi

Procedure: “All current and future detainead @risoners at Shastounty Jail with mobility
disabilities who, because of thelisabilities, need appropriad&commodations, modifications,

services, and and/or physical access in accordaitiedederal and state disability laws.”
15
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3. Keker & Van Nest LLP, Disability RightLegal Center, and Atabek & Associates,
P.C. be appointed class counsel.

These findings and recommendations are suedtti the United States District Judge
assigned to the case, pursuarth® provisions of 28 U.S.C. § 636(B) Within seven days afte
being served with these findingad recommendations, any partyynfide written objections with
the court and serve a copy ongadirties. Such a document shibbke captioned “Objections to
Magistrate Judge’s Findings and RecommendatioAsy response to thobjections shall be
filed and served within fourteen days after sex\o€ the objections. Thearties are advised tha
failure to file objections within the specifiedrnte may waive the right tappeal the District

Court’s order._Martinez v. $t, 951 F.2d 1153 (9th Cir. 1991).

DATED: March 13, 2017 , -
Mn——— &(ﬂlﬂhl—
ALLISON CLAIRE
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE
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